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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
EASTERN DISTRICT OF MICHIGAN 

SOUTHERN DIVISION 
 

Heather L. Johnson,  
 

Plaintiff, 
  
v.  
 
The University of Michigan, The 
Regents of the University of 
Michigan, Debasish Dutta in his 
individual capacity, and Christopher 
Giordano in his individual capacity, 
 

Defendants. 

 
 
Case No. _________________ 
 
Hon. ________________ 
United States District Judge 

 

COMPLAINT FOR INJUNCTIVE RELIEF AND MONEY DAMAGES  
AND JURY DEMAND 

Plaintiff Heather L. Johnson, by and through her Attorneys, Pitt McGehee 

Palmer & Rivers, PC, complains of the University of Michigan, The Regents of 

the University of Michigan, Debasish Dutta, in his individual capacity, and 

Christopher Giordano, in his individual capacity, as follows: 
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INTRODUCTION 

1. In response to concerns about a hostile and non-inclusive climate 

for women and LGBTQIA+1 individuals at its Flint campus, the University of 

Michigan hired Heather Johnson to serve as Director of a new institution on its 

Flint campus that would come to be called the Center for Gender and Sexuality 

(“CGS”).  

2. Johnson, who is a lesbian and dresses in a style traditionally 

considered masculine, was hired to advocate and lead efforts at the University 

of Michigan at Flint (“UM-Flint”) for the equity and inclusion of women and 

LGBTQIA+ students, faculty, and staff.  

3. Johnson was a persistent advocate for these concerns, reporting to 

the University’s leadership her concerns that UM-Flint was discriminating 

against LGBTQIA+ individuals in violation of Title IX and the Affordable Care 

Act. She also raised her concerns that UM-Flint was failing in its duties under a 

number of State laws and the University’s own policies and regulations 

regarding training and reporting for campus sexual violence prevention.  

 
1 LGBTQIA+ is a term used to describe sexual minorities and stands for Lesbian, 
Gay, Bisexual, Trans* (transgender and transsexual), Queer or Questioning, 
Intersex, Asexual or Agender, and the “+” indicates all other variations for 
gender and sexuality in use.  
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4. Only, the Vice Chancellor and Chancellor who had originally hired 

Johnson were both women and by August of 2019, both of these women had 

been replaced by men—Defendants Christopher Giordano (“Giordano”) and 

Debasish Dutta (“Dutta”). And these men sabotaged Johnson’s efforts and 

dismissed her efforts to call their attention to the inequities and exclusion of 

women and LGBTQIA+ individuals at UM-Flint.  

5. Giordano and Dutta terminated Johnson’s employment a mere 16 

months after she began at UM-Flint. In removing Johnson, Defendants 

unlawfully retaliated against her for engaging in activities it hired her to do—

activities that are protected under Title IX and the Affordable Care Act. Johnson 

brings this lawsuit to vindicate her rights under federal law. 

PARTIES, JURISDICTION, AND VENUE 

6. Plaintiff Heather L. Johnson (“Johnson”) is a 43-year old woman 

who resides in Brighton, Michigan. 

7. Defendant University of Michigan (“University”) is a public entity 

of the State of Michigan located in the Eastern District of Michigan. 

8. Defendant Board of Regents of the University of Michigan 

(“Regents”) is the governing body with general supervision of Defendant 

University of Michigan. 
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9. Defendant Debasish Dutta (“Dutta”), sued in his individual 

capacity, assumed the title of Chancellor of the University of Michigan at Flint 

(“UM-Flint”) on August 1, 2019, and is believed to reside in the Eastern District 

of Michigan. 

10. Defendant Christopher Giordano, sued in his individual capacity, 

was at all relevant times served as the Vice Chancellor of Student Affairs for 

UM-Flint. He is believed to reside in the Eastern District of Michigan. 

11. All relevant events took place in the Eastern District of Michigan. 

12. This action is brought pursuant to Title IX of the Educational 

Amendments of 1972, 20 U.S.C. §1681, et seq., as more fully set forth herein. 

13. This action is brought to secure relief for violations of rights 

guaranteed by the Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act (“ACA”) §1557, 

42 U.S.C. §18116 (2012) (Section 1557). 

14. This Court has original jurisdiction over claims brought under 

Section 1557 of the ACA and Title IX of the Educational Amendments Act of 

1972. 

15. Subject matter jurisdiction is founded upon 28 U.S.C. §1331, which 

grants this Court jurisdiction over all civil actions arising under the 

Constitution, laws, and treaties of the United States. 
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16. The events giving rise to this lawsuit occurred in Genesee County, 

Michigan, which sits in the Southern Division of the Eastern District of 

Michigan; therefore, venue is proper in the United States District Court for the 

Eastern District of Michigan, pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §1391 (b)(2). 

FACTUAL ALLEGATIONS 

17. Plaintiff Heather Johnson is a highly accomplished professional 

with a Master’s degree in Developmental Psychology and a Juris Doctorate, and 

she is currently a dual-degree doctoral candidate in Higher Educational 

Administration and Education Policy. 

18. Johnson is a lesbian who does not subscribe to conventional gender 

distinctions: she typically wears clothes associated with menswear and styles 

her hair in ways more traditionally considered to be masculine.  

19. In July of 2018, after a national search, then Vice Chancellor of UM-

Flint, Barbara Avery, hired Johnson to serve as the Director of the Women’s 

Educational Center and the Ellen Bommarito LGBTQ Center. 

20. The job posting for this new position called for a high-level leader 

who will report to the Vice Chancellor of Student Affairs and have a dotted 

reporting line to the Chancellor as a permanent member of the Women’s 

Commission.  
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21. The position specifically called for a scholar and leader who would 

promote activism and advocacy while developing programs focused on equity, 

inclusion, and student success in Flint, in Michigan, and beyond. 

22. The position was created to address concerns that the University’s 

Flint campus was hostile to women and not sufficiently inclusive of LGBTQIA+ 

individuals. 

23. In this new role, Johnson was to lead the merging of these two 

centers into a single entity that would come to be known as the Center for 

Gender and Sexuality (“CGS”). 

24. Johnson was charged to provide “visionary leadership” for the 

CGS’s growth and development—specifically, to mobilize resources to create 

equity, inclusion, and success for students, staff, and faculty.   

25. The CGS had as its mission to provide educational programming, 

support and advocacy, resources and referrals, and a safe space on campus. 

26. Johnson was also directed to engage in advocacy and policy work 

within the University and beyond to secure resources and directly provide 

programming efforts on behalf of women and LGBTQIA+ students. 

27. Even though former Vice Chancellor Avery signed Johnson’s 

appointment letter, she left her position during the summer of 2018 and 
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Giordano became the Vice Chancellor of Student Affairs a few weeks after 

Johnson started. 

Johnson Performed her Role with Distinction and Great Effectiveness 

28. Johnson performed with great effectiveness and to high praise on 

the directives and charges she was given when she was hired. 

29. It is understood by faculty members who served on the Women’s 

Commission and the Board of CGS that prior directors of the two Centers had 

faced pushback and censure for doing their jobs of advocating for women and 

LGBTQIA+ equity and inclusion at UM-Flint. 

30. In Johnson’s first year in her role, attendance in programs and 

engagement with the Center vastly increased. 

31. Johnson also succeeded in securing a $125,175 grant from the State 

of Michigan to support peer educator programs—an amount that far exceeded 

prior funding received by either of the centers. 

32. Johnson’s position as Director of CGS also involved building 

collaborations with organizations unaffiliated with the University—including 

providing trainings to the judiciary and local law enforcement, among others, 

to build their capacities for increasing equity regarding gender and sexuality.  

33. On May 15, 2019, Professor Jennifer Alvey, Chair of the Department 

of Sociology, Anthropology, and Criminal Justice and Co-Chair of the Women’s 
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Commission, submitted an annual review for Johnson, which is part of her 

personnel file and describes Johnson as highly effective and a widely welcomed 

addition to the Flint Campus.  

34. In August of 2019, approximately 3 months after Johnson should 

have received her performance review for the 2018-19 academic year, 

Giordano provided her with a performance review that did not reflect the 

evaluation provided by Professor Alvey.  

35. Giordano refused to discuss Johnson’s performance review with 

her and instead instructed her to “take it up with HR” if she had any concerns. 

36. Nonetheless, on August 19, 2019, Johnson received the full amount 

of the merit increase that year.  

37. Notwithstanding her many successes, Johnson regularly 

experienced in her meetings and interactions with her supervisor Giordano 

that he avoided making eye contact, interrupted her and responded abruptly 

without providing the approval or feedback she needed, and generally failed to 

show her in his words and conduct the respect he afforded his other direct 

reports. 

38. During the summer of 2019, Dutta and Giordano began to organize 

campus-wide strategic planning on diversity, equity, and inclusion (“DEI”) 
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initiatives for UM-Flint, but they deliberately excluded Johnson from any role 

in this campus-wide initiative. 

39. Concerned by this obvious oversight, two faculty members who sit 

on the Board of the CGS met with Giordano in September of 2019, to request 

that Johnson be included in the UM-Flint DEI planning. 

40. Giordano rebuffed these two faculty members’ concerns, claiming 

that he needed team players to participate in this work and that Johnson, in his 

words, was not a “team player.” 

41. These faculty members disagreed, citing Johnson’s extensive work 

on campus with multiple constituencies, as well as her exceptional 

communications skills, as evidence of her capacities as a “team player,” but 

Giordano refused to include her in the DEI work. 

42. Upon information and belief, it is common at UM-Flint for women 

at all levels—faculty, staff, and students—to get censured for being “too 

aggressive” and not being “team players.”  

43. In fact, these terms are coded language used by the University’s 

leaders, including Giordano and Dutta, to demonstrate contempt for women 

like Johnson who show unwelcomed persistence in their work and advocacy. 
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Johnson Expresses Concerns about Campus Mental Health Services 

44. On or about April 23, 2019, Johnson brought to her supervisor 

Giordano’s attention an urgent concern she had regarding the mental health 

services and standards of care provided to LGBTQIA+ students at UM-Flint. 

45. Johnson and her staff had learned from several students that they 

had been denied treatment by the licensed clinical social workers at the Flint 

campus student mental health services known as “CAPS—Counseling and 

Psychological Services” and this refusal of care was based on their being 

LGBTQIA+ individuals. 

46. The Flint CAPS staff have admitted directly to Johnson and through 

others that they have little training and understanding of how to treat 

LGBTQIA+ individuals. 

47. A nurse practitioner who treats transgender and transsexual 

patients corroborated that CAPS was denying treatment to transgender and 

transsexual students at CAPS. 

48. Johnson’s concerns were also corroborated by the University’s 

compliance reporting line having received complaints that CAPS at UM-Flint 

was mistreating or improperly treating LGBTQIA+ students. 

49. Understanding that LGBTQIA+ young people can be particularly 

susceptible to suicidal ideation and exceptionally vulnerable when faced with 
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insensitive healthcare providers, Johnson escalated these concerns to Giordano 

in person on April 23 and then in a follow-up email on April 25, 2019. 

50. Although Giordano pledged to “look into it,” despite Johnson’s 

repeated follow up requests, at no time did Giordano respond to Johnson’s 

credible concerns and suggested action steps. 

51. Instead, Giordano directed Johnson not to follow up on any 

concerns of inadequate mental health care on behalf of the LGBTQIA+ student 

body. 

52. Giordano threatened Johnson that if she persisted in pursuing her 

concerns about CAPS, he would consider it insubordination, which could 

instigate disciplinary charges. 

53. In October of 2019, Johnson filed a formal complaint with Human 

Resources about her concerns that CAPS was discriminating against LGBTQIA+ 

students by denying them proper mental health services.  

Giordano Thwarts Johnson’s Attempts to Resolve a Flint Campus 
Inequity Regarding Gender Markers 

54. When Johnson arrived in August of 2018, she discovered that 

students at UM-Flint did not have the ability in the University’s student 

information systems to specify what their preferred gender pronoun is for 

people to use when addressing them.  
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55. All University faculty and staff, as well as the University’s students 

at its Ann Arbor and Dearborn campuses already had this ability to update their 

profiles in the student information system to indicate their preferred gender 

pronoun. 

56. Johnson promptly reached out to the University’s technology group 

and developed with them a full protocol that would also permit UM-Flint 

students to edit their student profiles and indicate their preferred gender 

pronouns. 

57. All that was needed for this protocol to go “live” for Flint students 

was the approval of Giordano. 

58. Johnson raised this issue at her regular meetings with Giordano 

between October 2018 and November 2019; however, Giordano repeatedly 

refused to authorize the tech services team to “flip the switch” that would turn 

on the option for Flint students. 

Johnson Raises Concerns that Flint Campus is not in Compliance with 
Mandates Regarding Sexual Violence Prevention 

59. During her tenure, Johnson reported her concerns to Giordano that 

UM-Flint’s process of reporting incidents of sexual assaults, was not compliant 

with the laws and regulations that these reports remain properly confidential. 
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60. Johnson also served on a sexual violence prevention working group 

at UM-Flint comprising Giordano, Dutta’s Chief of Staff, the Director of Human 

Resources, the Institutional Equity Specialist, and the Dean of Students.  

61. This team was charged with implementing improvements to sexual 

violence prevention training and services at UM-Flint.  

62. Johnson reported to these officials that UM-Flint was providing 

only the most minimal training, which she believed was inadequate under 

Federal and State laws, as well as under the University’s own policies.  

63. Johnson also reported to these officials that the University’s 

reporting on sexual violence prevention was not compliant with state and 

federal requirements, as well as the University’s own policies.   

64. Giordano and Dutta and their senior officers on the working group 

sought to avoid any high-profile or mandatory training efforts on sexual 

violence prevention because they were concerned that such issues would upset 

new students and threaten enrollment numbers. 

65. As a result of the UM-Flint leadership’s efforts to minimize the 

impact of sexual violence prevention awareness, less than 10% of the new 

students—first years and transfers—participated in these training sessions, 

even though a new Michigan law required that all new students receive this 

training. 
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66. Moreover, Giordano has not allowed or directed any follow-up on 

these trainings with new students, such as effectiveness measuring or 

reporting. 

67. Michigan law also requires all universities receiving state funding 

to report annually to the State Senate and House on their efforts to develop and 

implement sexual assault response training for Title IX coordinators and other 

“key personnel” charged with responding and reporting on sexual violence. 

MCL § 388.1874c. 

68. In January of 2019, Giordano asked Johnson to report on student 

trainings on sexual assault response and misconduct. 

69. In the process of compiling a report on student trainings regarding 

sexual violence prevention, Johnson discovered that Defendants had 

erroneously quoted the numbers for students who received training, rather 

than the key personnel, in its report the Michigan State House and Senate 

regarding what training was provided to key personnel at UM-Flint. 

70. Johnson reported her concerns to Giordano—that the University 

had erroneously overstated its numbers in this report—but he did not respond 

to her concerns that the report needed to be corrected. 
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Johnson Plays a Leadership Role on the Women’s Commission 

71. In 2014, then Chancellor Ruth Person initiated the UM-Flint 

Women’s Commission with the mission and purpose of promoting full and 

equitable participation of all individuals, regardless of gender, in the UM-Flint 

campus community. 

72. The Commission was recognized in 2018 with a Distinguished 

Diversity Leaders Award for its group work providing leadership for faculty, 

staff, and administration.  

73. In her capacity as Director of the CGS, Johnson served as a 

perpetual member of the Women’s Commission.   

74. Johnson was selected to serve as the staff co-chair of the Women’s 

Commission for the 2019-20 academic year. 

75. In August of 2019, Dutta replaced Sue Borrego as Chancellor of UM-

Flint.  

76. At the meeting of the Women’s Commission held on September 17, 

2019, members expressed concerns that while Borrego and Person before her 

had supported the Women’s Commission extensively, Dutta had not accepted 

the Women’s Commission’s repeated invitations for him to address them at one 

of their meetings. 
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77. Johnson responded to this concern by suggesting that Dutta’s 

actions spoke for themselves and that the Women’s Commission members 

needed to impress upon the Chancellor the importance of their work. 

78. Johnson’s statement was factual and did not in any way disparage 

the Chancellor. 

Defendants Disband the Women’s Commission and Terminate Johnson 

79. On December 2, 2019, Dutta summoned Johnson and faculty 

member Emily Feurherm, the Co-Chairs of the University’s Women’s 

Commission, to an early morning meeting and informed them that he was 

dissolving the Women’s Commission effective immediately. 

80. During this meeting, Dutta avoided making eye contact with 

Johnson, interrupted her repeatedly, and generally addressed all his comments 

to her co-chair. 

81. Later that same day, Giordano summoned Johnson to a meeting 

where he and Human Resources Director Beth Manning presented her with a 

document that required her to resign her employment and promise not to ever 

seek rehire by the University in exchange for a small payment. 

82. This document indicated that if Johnson refused to sign, she would 

face unspecified disciplinary charges that would result in her termination.  
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83. Each one of the purported reasons Giordano provided for 

terminating Johnson is untrue, inaccurate, and/or not a legitimate reason to 

terminate a senior employee who has otherwise performed her role extremely 

well. 

84. Had Giordano not terminated Johnson’s employment when he did, 

Johnson would have been honored on December 4, 2019 as one of ten 

recipients from the entire University of Michigan system of a “Distinguished 

Diversity Leader Award.” 

85. Giordano and Dutta were aware that Johnson had been nominated 

for this honor and on December 2, 2019, Giordano knew that Johnson would be 

receiving this honor.  

86. Giordano and Dutta terminated Johnson’s employment when they 

did to prevent Johnson from receiving this honor. 

87. On December 3, 2019, Dutta announced that he was replacing the 

disbanded Women’s Commission and a sister organization called the Diversity 

Council with a Diversity, Equity and Inclusion Committee to be led a man, David 

Luke, who is far less experienced and qualified than Plaintiff to perform this 

role. 

88. A few days after Giordano presented Johnson with the ultimatum 

regarding her continued employment, she learned that the part-time lecturer 
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position to teach WGS 115, “Introduction to Sexuality Studies,” a class she had 

developed and was scheduled to teach starting in January 2020, had been 

blocked by the University. 

89. On December 18, 2019, Giordano and Dutta’s Chief of Staff, Tess 

Barker, informed the CGS advisory board that Barker would serve as the 

interim director of the CGS and that the University would open a national 

search to hire a new Director of the CGS to replace Johnson. 

90. Also in December of 2019, Giordano represented to the State of 

Michigan than Johnson had departed her employment at UM-Flint and thus he 

needed to appoint another employee to replace Johnson as the Principal 

Investigator on the $125,175 grant Johnson had won to support CGS 

programming. 

91. By Defendants’ own admissions to the faculty board of the CGS and 

to the State of Michigan, the supposed “choice” presented to Johnson, that she 

could resign or remain and face a Disciplinary Review Conference (“DRC”), was 

illusory, because Defendants had already decided to terminate Johnson’s 

employment through her forced resignation or a sham disciplinary process that 

would definitively result in her discharge. 

92. On December 12, 2019, the Faculty and Staff Advisory Board for the 

CGS wrote to Dutta and Giordano expressing their alarm that “Johnson’s 

Case 2:20-cv-10381-VAR-APP   ECF No. 1   filed 02/13/20    PageID.18    Page 18 of 29



19 
 

services to the university has been interrupted without the engagement of the 

Advisory Board.” The Board stated that Johnson “has done an outstanding job 

with her charge” and “demonstrated an outstanding and unrivaled 

commitment to the issues faced by women and LGBTQ+ individuals on our 

campus and in the Flint community.” The Board noted Johnson’s “impactful 

record of service” and questioned that the University had dismissed her as part 

of its “historical legacy” and “practice” of silencing and oppressing “those that 

advocate for justice and equity.”  

93. On January 14, 2020, Plaintiff was summoned to this sham DRC, 

this time to address unfounded accusations she had not previously heard 

during her employment.  

94. Former Chancellor Sue Borrego wrote to Giordano and Human 

Resources in advance of this DRC to support Johnson and decry the University’s 

termination of her employment. In this email of January 11, 2020, Borrego 

wrote that Johnson had an immediate positive impact when she arrived on 

campus and described Johnson’s work as “collaborative” and “inclusive in all 

events, trainings and activities she developed.” Borrego described the 

universally positive feedback she received, and that “[a]t no point during my 

time as chancellor while Heather was there did I ever hear any criticism of her 

work, professionalism, or integrity.” Borrego described Johnson as moving 
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“with sensitivity and compassion” even as she faced a difficult job and animus 

directed at her because she is a “queer woman.” Borrego even noted that 

Johnson was able to “share information with me, even difficult information in a 

way that was helpful and forward thinking.” Borrego also praised Johnson for 

being “open to feedback and suggestions” and “navigating multiple 

constituencies respectfully and professionally.” 

95. The DRC lasted an hour, and notwithstanding the concern of the 

former Chancellor, faculty and staff, Giordano informed Johnson by a letter 

dated the next day that her employment was terminated.  

96. Giordano’s letter informed Johnson that her employment was 

terminated and provided additional purported reasons for her termination that 

she had not been provided the previous day at the DRC. 

97. All of the purported reasons provided by Defendants for 

terminating Johnson’s employment are pretextual, since in reality Defendants 

terminated Johnson in retaliation for Johnson’s having reported violations of 

federal and state law. 

98. On January 17, 2020, all 13 faculty members of the Women’s and 

Gender Studies Program UM-Flint wrote to the University’s Interim Provost 

and Vice Chancellor for Academic Affairs Keith Moreland to express their 

“outrage” at the University’s termination of Johnson. These faculty members 
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described Johnson as a “valued and admired colleague” and wrote that they “are 

particularly concerned by what appears to be the complete lack of protection 

for individuals to do the job that are tasked with.” They expressed their “anger” 

that Johnson was “targeted for fulfilling a key responsibility of her position, 

which is to identify areas of institutional weakness or need, assure the use of 

expertise in best practices, and to advocate for change in order to promote the 

retention and success of LGBTQIA identified people, women, and all individuals 

on campus.”  

99. As a result of Defendants’ unlawful termination of Johnson’s 

employment, Johnson has suffered lost wages and benefits, professional 

embarrassment by being removed without grounds from a high-profile 

leadership position, humiliation and economic losses from being blocked from 

teaching a course she designed and was appointed to teach, significant 

reputational damage—including the loss of a University-wide honor, and 

severe emotional distress. 

COUNT 1: TITLE IX VIOLATIONS AGAINST ALL DEFENDANTS 

100. Plaintiff incorporates here all previously stated allegations. 

101. Title IX of the Educational Amendments of 1972, 20 U.S.C. §1681 

(“Title IX”) states, “No person in the United States shall, on the basis of sex, be 

excluded from participation in, be denied the benefits of, or be subjected to 
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discrimination under any education program or activity receiving Federal 

financial assistance. . . .” 

102. Plaintiff is a “person” covered by the Title IX statutory language. 

103. Defendant University receives federal financial assistance; 

therefore, it is an Educational Institution covered by Title IX. 20 U.S.C. §§ 

1681(a), 1687. 

104. Title IX prohibits educational institutions from retaliating against 

students or employees for opposing actions that are violations of Title IX. 

Jackson v. Birmingham Bd of Educ., 544 U.S. 167 (2005). 

105. Title IX specifically requires Defendants to ensure that individuals 

are not denied educational programs and services because of sexual assault, 

harassment or hostility. 

106. Plaintiff’s job responsibilities included, inter alia, advocacy and 

support for women and LGBTQIA+ individuals, with particular attention to 

safety, security and prevention of violence, harassment and hostility because of 

their gender status, sexual orientation, and sex. 

107. Plaintiff identified and reported to Giordano specific failures of the 

University and its Regents to provide adequate mental health care services for 

LGBTQIA+ students. 
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108. Plaintiff identified and reported to Giordano specific failures by the 

University to properly report the University’s efforts with regard to sexual 

violence prevention training. 

109. Plaintiff opposed Giordano and Dutta’s efforts to minimize and 

undermine the sexual violence prevention training required by the University 

and state law. 

110. Plaintiff identified and reported to Giordano her concern that the 

University was not safeguarding the confidentiality of sexual violence incidents 

at UM-Flint. 

111. Plaintiff identified and advocated for a change to the UM-Flint 

student information system that would provide an opportunity for equity and 

inclusion of LGBTQIA+ students by allowing students to select their preferred 

gender pronoun; however, Giordano blocked this initiative. 

112. Plaintiff expressed her concerns to the Women’s Commission that 

Dutta did not share his predecessor’s concern for gender equity and inclusion 

for faculty, staff, and students on the Flint campus. 

113. Giordano terminated Plaintiff’s employment because she 

performed her job to promote and advocate for the equity and inclusion of 

women and LGBTQIA+ individuals in all aspects of University life, work, 

benefits, programs, and privileges. 
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114. That is to say, Defendants terminated Plaintiff’s employment 

because she was working to ensure that the dictates of Title IX were complied 

with at the University. 

115. Defendants’ stated reasons for firing Plaintiff are not credible; 

instead, they are pretext for unlawful retaliation for Plaintiff’s work to enforce 

and ensure compliance with Title IX. 

116. Defendants Dutta and Giordano acted knowingly and with 

deliberate indifference to Plaintiff’s rights under Title IX. 

117. Because of Defendant’s violations of Title IX, Plaintiff has suffered 

economic losses, severe emotional distress and reputational harm. 

Request for Relief: 

Pursuant to Title IX and consistent with Franklin v. Gwinnet County Public 

Schools, 503 U.S. 60 (1992), Plaintiff seeks the following remedies and relief: 

A. Reinstatement of her Employment; 

B. Restoration of Johnson’s Teaching Assignment in Women & 

Gender Studies; 

C. Restoration of Johnson’s “Distinguished Diversity Leader 

Award”;  

D. Lost wages and related economic damages; 
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E. Compensatory damages for emotional distress and 

reputational harm; 

F. Punitive damages to reflect the knowing and deliberately 

indifferent nature of Defendants’ violations; 

G. Attorney’s fees and costs; and 

H. Other relief as the Court deems appropriate. 

COUNT 2: SEX DISCRIMINATION IN VIOLATION OF THE PATIENT 
PROTECTION AND AFFORDABLE CARE ACT §§ 1557-58, 42 U.S.C. § 18116 
AND 29 U.S.C. § 218C, AGAINST DEFENDANTS UNIVERSITY OF MICHIGAN 

AND TRUSTEES OF THE UNIVERSITY OF MICHIGAN. 

118. Plaintiff incorporates here all previously stated allegations. 

119. The Affordable Care Act (“ACA”), 42 U.S.C. § 18116 — 

Nondiscrimination provides: 

(a) In general 
 

Except as otherwise provided for in this title (or an 
amendment made by this title), an individual shall not, 
on the ground prohibited under title VI of the Civil 
Rights Act of 1964 (42 U.S.C. 2000d et seq.), title IX of 
the Education Amendments of 1972 (20 U.S.C. 1681 et 
seq.), the Age Discrimination Act of 1975 (42 U.S.C. 
6101 et seq.), or section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act 
of 1973 (29 U.S.C. 794), be excluded from participation 
in, be denied the benefits of, or be subjected to 
discrimination under, any health program or activity, 
any part of which is receiving Federal financial 
assistance, including credits, subsidies, or contracts of 
insurance, or under any program or activity that is 
administered by an Executive Agency or any entity 
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established under this title (or amendments). The 
enforcement mechanisms provided for and available 
under such title VI, title IX, section 504, or such Age 
Discrimination Act shall apply for purposes of 
violations of this subsection. 

 
120. The ACA, Section 1558, 29 U.S.C. § 218C, prohibits retaliation of any 

kind against an employee because she has objected to any activity she 

reasonably believes is in violation of the ACA or because she has reported or 

been about to report an act she believes to be a violation of the ACA. 

121. All individuals have a right under 42 U.S.C. § 18116 to receive 

health care services free from discrimination on the basis of sex. 

122. Plaintiff is an employee covered by the ACA. 

123. Defendant University is a provider of healthcare services covered 

by the ACA. 

124. Mental health services are a form of healthcare service covered by 

the ACA. 

125. On or about April 23, 2019, Plaintiff reported to Giordano that she 

had received multiple credible reports of students being denied mental health 

services because of their gender and sex. 

126. Plaintiff explained that the specific students being denied mental 

health services were particularly vulnerable because they are LGBTQIA+ 

individuals and more likely to be at risk for suicide than the population at large. 
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127. Plaintiff reasonably believed that by denying these students access 

to mental health care on the basis of their gender and sex that the University 

was violating the ACA. 

128. Plaintiff followed up with Giordano on more than one occasion and 

provided concrete action steps that could be taken to provide these students 

with the mental health services that they needed. 

129. Giordano ignored Plaintiff’s concerns and refused to approve her 

plans to get these students access to healthcare providers. 

130. Giordano threatened to charge Plaintiff with insubordination if she 

did not desist in her efforts to ensure that these students received proper 

mental health care. 

131. Defendants Dutta and Giordano terminated Plaintiff’s employment 

because she identified and reported a violation of the ACA. 

132. Defendants Dutta and Giordano’s conduct was knowing and 

deliberately indifferent to Plaintiff’s rights under the ACA.  

  

Case 2:20-cv-10381-VAR-APP   ECF No. 1   filed 02/13/20    PageID.27    Page 27 of 29



28 
 

Request for Relief: 

As allowed by the ACA, Plaintiff seeks the following remedies and relief: 

A. Reinstatement of her Employment; 

B. Restoration of Johnson’s Teaching Assignment in Women & 

Gender Studies; 

C. Restoration of Johnson’s “Distinguished Diversity Leader 

Award”;  

D. Lost wages and related economic damages; 

E. Compensatory damages for emotional distress and 

reputational harm; 

F. Attorney’s fees and costs; and 

G. Other relief as the Court deems appropriate. 

      Respectfully submitted,  
 
     PITT MCGEHEE PALMER & RIVERS, P.C.  
 
     /s/Robin B. Wagner 

      Michael L. Pitt (P24429) 
Megan A. Bonanni (P52079) 

     Robin B. Wagner (P79408) 
     Attorneys for Plaintiff 
     117 W. Fourth Street, Suite 200 
     Royal Oak, MI  48067 
     248-398-9800 
     mpitt@pittlawp.com 
     mbonanni@pittlawpc.com 
Dated:  February 13, 2020  rwagner@pittlawpc.com 
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DEMAND FOR JURY BY TRIAL 

Plaintiff, by and through her attorneys, Pitt McGehee Palmer & Rivers, 

P.C., hereby demands a trial by jury of all issues in the within cause of action. 

      Respectfully submitted,  
 
     PITT MCGEHEE PALMER & RIVERS, P.C.  
 
     /s/Robin B. Wagner 

      Michael L. Pitt (P24429) 
Megan A. Bonanni (P52079) 

     Robin B. Wagner (P79408) 
     Attorneys for Plaintiff 
     117 W. Fourth Street, Suite 200 
     Royal Oak, MI  48067 
     248-398-9800 
     mpitt@pittlawpc.com 
     mbonanni@pittlawpc.com 
     rwagner@pittlawpc.com 
 

Dated:  February 13, 2020 
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